أولا شكر خاص لمستر جواد على هذة الفكرة الرائعة

ثانيا : هذا الملف اهداء الى كل زملائى و اخوانى و يحتوى على معلومات هامة جدااااا

ثالثا : أتمنى ان نبقى دائما على اتصال لكى يستفيد الجميع 

أخوكم فى الله 
محمد حسنى عبدالعال
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Unit 1

Grammar Past simple, past continuous and past perfect

Past simple (I worked)

from English Grammar Today
Past simple: form

For regular verbs, we add -ed to the base form of the verb (work–worked) or -d if the verb already ends in e (move–moved).

	+
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	worked.

	−
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(full form)

did not
	work.

	
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(short form)

didn’t
	

	? +
	Did I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	work?

	? –
	(full form)

Did I, she, he, it, you, we, they not
	work?

	
	(short form)

Didn’t I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	


In regular one-syllable verbs with a single vowel followed by a consonant, we double the final consonant when adding -ed to make the past simple:

stop: The bus stopped suddenly.
plan: Who planned this trip?
Past simple: pronunciation of -ed
For regular verbs, there are three possible pronunciations of -ed endings.

	/d/
	/t/
	/ɪd/

	after all vowel sounds and after voiced consonants (except /d/)

/m/ /n/ /ŋ/ /l/ /g/ /dʒ/ /z/ /b/ /v/
	after all voiceless consonants (except /t/)/k/ /p/ /f/ /s/ /ʃ/ /tʃ/
	after /d/ and /t/

	cried, tried, hurried, weighed, smiled, planned, judged, sneezed, lived
	picked, hopped, laughed, crossed, pushed, watched
	decided, ended, landed, started, visited, waited


Past simple: irregular verbs

Many verbs are irregular. Here are some common ones. Each one has to be learnt. A full list is provided on page 611.

The verb form is the same for all persons (I, you, she, he, it, we, they), and we make questions and negatives with irregular verbs in the same ways as for regular verbs.

	irregular verb
	example in the past simple

	be
	She was afraid.

	begin
	The meal began with soup.

	come
	Everyone came to my house for the weekend.

	do
	Look what I did!

	eat
	The birds ate all of the bread.

	fly
	We flew from New York to Mexico City.

	have
	She had such a good time.

	know
	We knew each other well in college.

	read
	I read that book last year. (/red/)

	sing
	Her sister sang a beautiful song at the party.

	tell
	He told me a funny story.

	wake
	When she woke up, it was already 1 pm!

	write
	I wrote him an email to explain why I couldn’t meet him.


Past simple: uses

Definite time in the past

We use the past simple to talk about definite time in the past (often we specify when something happened, e.g. yesterday, three weeks ago, last year, when I was young):

Did you watch that film yesterday?
He left at the end of November.
When they were young, they hated meat.
Single or habitual events or states

We use the past simple to talk about single or regular (habitual) events or states in the past.

	Events that happened once
	He fell off his bike and his friends took him to a doctor.
She ran out and she phoned my brother.

	Events that happened more than once
	They travelled to Italy every summer and always stayed in small villages on the coast.
As children, we played all kinds of games on the street.

	States
	She looked a bit upset.
Did you feel afraid?


When we use the past simple to refer to habitual events, the meaning is similar to used to:

I did a lot of travelling when I was younger. (or I used to do a lot of travelling when I was younger.)

The past simple with no time reference

Sometimes there is no time expression when the past simple is used. This happens especially when we know the time:

Leonardo Da Vinci painted the Mona Lisa. (From our general knowledge, we know that Leonardo Da Vinci painted the Mona Lisa a few hundred years ago.)

Compare

	Do you know Grace? She was in my class at primary school.
	Do you know Grace? She was in my class at primary school in the 70s.

	Past simple without a definite time reference: both speakers know when this time was and do not need to say it. They know each other well.
	Past simple with a definite time reference: the speaker is not sure if the listener knows when she was at primary school.


Past simple and the order of events

When one past event happens after another, the first one mentioned in the past simple happened first and the second one happened next, and so on. If we change the order of the verbs, this changes the meaning.

Compare

	[event 1]I turned off the light and [event 2]got into bed.
	The first event in the past simple happened first. The second event in the past simple happened second, and so on.

	[event 1]I got into bed and [event 2]turned off the light
	


Past continuous (I was working)

from English Grammar Today
Past continuous: form

We use was/were + the -ing form of the verb.

	+
	I, she, he, it
you, we, they
	was
were
	working.

	–
	I, she, he, it
you, we, they
	(full form)

was not
were not
	working.

	
	I, she, he, it
you, we, they
	(short form)

wasn’t
weren’t
	

	? +
	Was
Were
	I, she, he, it
you, we, they
	working?

	? –
	(full form)

Was
Were
	I, she, he, it
you, we, they
	not
	working?

	
	(short form)

Wasn’t
Weren’t
	I, she, he, it
you, we, they
	


There are a number of spelling rules for when we make the -ing form of the verb.

Past continuous: uses

Events happening at a particular time in the past

We generally use the past continuous to talk about actions and states in progress (happening) around a particular time in the past. It can emphasise that the action or state continued for a period of time in the past:

A:Where was Donna last night?
B: I’m not sure. I think she was visiting her family. (action)

I remember that night. You were wearing that red dress. (state)

Background events

When one event is more important than another in the past, we can use the past continuous for the background event (the less important event) and the past simple for the main event:

[background event]Lisa was cycling to school when [main event]she saw the accident.
[background event]What were you thinking about when [main event]you won the race?
Reasons and contexts for events

We often use the past continuous to give a reason or context for an event:

A: I can’t believe you met Fran and Dave in Portugal.

B: It was funny. They were staying in the hotel next to ours. (giving a reason/context for meeting them)

I didn’t make the meeting last week; I was travelling to Rome.
Ongoing and repeated events

We can use the past continuous to talk about repeated background events in the past. It can suggest that the situation was temporary or subject to change:

She was feeding her neighbours’ cat every morning while they were on holiday. Then one morning, it was gone.
The neighbours were making so much noise, night after night. We had to complain eventually.
Warning:

We only use the past continuous for repeated background events. If they are repeated main events, we use the past simple:

I phoned you four times last night. Where were you?
Not: I was phoning you four times last night.

We don’t use the past continuous in the same way as used to when we talk about things in the past which are no longer true:

We used to go on holiday to Yorkshire every year when I was little.
Not: We were going on holiday …

Adverbs such as always, constantly, forever are used with the past continuous when we talk about repeated, unplanned or undesired events:

We were always spending so much time in traffic. That’s the main reason why we decided to move to the country and work from home.
My boss was constantly phoning me in my last job. I hated it.
She was forever losing her keys.
The past continuous and definite time

We sometimes use the past continuous to refer to a definite period of past time. This usually emphasises the event continuing over a period of time:

We were cooking all morning because we had 15 people coming for lunch.
Lots of us were working at the office on Saturday because we had to finish the project by Monday.
Past continuous or past simple?

from English Grammar Today
Past continuous = I was working Past simple = I worked
Choice of emphasis

Often there is little difference between the past continuous and the past simple, except that the past continuous suggests that the event(s) were in progress at a time in the past or that they were happening as background or temporary events. Whether we choose to use the past continuous or past simple often depends on how we see the past event(s).

Compare
	Doctors were treating patients in temporary beds and they were tryingto do their best in a difficult situation.
	Past continuous: writer chooses to show the events as ongoing at that time in the past.

	Doctors treated patients in temporary beds and they tried to do their best in a difficult situation.
	Past simple: writer chooses to show the events as finished.


Events in progress in the past

We use the past continuous to talk about events and temporary states that were in progress around a certain time in the past. We use the past simple to talk about events, states or habits at definite times in the past.

Compare
	At 4 pm last Tuesday, I was working in the office.
	The past continuous emphasises the action or event in progress around a time in the past. The event (working) was in progress at 4 pm.

The event was not completed at that time.

	At 4 pm last Monday, I finished work early and went home.
	The past simple emphasises the event that happened at a definite time in the past.

The focus is not on events in progress but rather on the whole events (finished work , went home).

The events were completed at that time.


Emphasising main events with the past simple

When one event is more important than the other in the past, we can use the past simple to emphasise the main event. We can use the past continuous for the background event (the less important one):

[background event]I was listening to the radio when [main event]Helen phoned.
[background event]I was sitting in the park and suddenly [main event]I saw an old school friend I hadn’t seen for 30 years.
Past perfect simple (I had worked)

from English Grammar Today
Past perfect simple: form

We use had + the -ed form of the verb.

	+
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(full form)

had
	worked.

	
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(short form)

’d
	

	−
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(full form)

had not
	worked.

	
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(short form)

hadn’t
	

	? +
	Had I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	worked?

	? −
	(full form)

Had I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	not
	worked?

	
	(short form)

Hadn’t I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	


Past perfect simple: uses

Time up to then

The past perfect refers to time up to a point in the past (time up to then), just as the present perfect refers to something that happened in the time up to the moment of speaking (time up to now):

I’d seen all of Elvis Presley’s movies by the time I was 20!
Compare

	I’d been to five countries in Europe by 2001.
	Past perfect: ‘time up to then’ (2001).

	I’ve been to five countries in Europe.
	Present perfect: ‘time up to now’.


Reported clauses

We commonly use the past perfect in reported clauses where the reporting verb (underlined) is in the past:

“Mr Hammond drove through a red light.”
The policeman said Mr Hammond had driven through a red light.
No one told me that the shop had closed.
I phoned Katie and she said the kids had had a day off school so she’d taken them ice skating.
We also use the past perfect when the reporting verb is a verb of perception and is in the past tense:

My Dad was really angry because he heard I hadn’t come home until 3 am!
I saw she’d bought the DVD so I asked if I could borrow it.
The doctor felt my mother had got worse since last week.
Talking about changed states

We often use the past perfect to refer to situations which have changed. In speaking, hadis often stressed:

A:  Are you going anywhere today?
B: I had planned to go to the beach but look at the rain! (had is stressed; the meaning is ‘I have now changed my mind’)

I’m very happy working as an engineer but I had wanted to be an actor when I was younger.
The past perfect in conditional clauses

We must use the past perfect when we imagine a different past in a clause with if:

I would have helped to paint the house if you’d asked me. (You didn’t ask me.)

Sarah couldn’t come with us to the cinema. She would have loved it if she had beenthere. (She wasn’t there.)

Warning:

We don’t use the past perfect in the main clause of a conditional sentence. It is only used in the conditional clause:

[conditional clause]If we had seen you walking, [main clause]we would have stopped to give you a lift.
Not: If we had seen you walking, we had stopped …

********************************************

Do or make? 
from English Grammar Today
When we use do and make with noun phrases, do focuses on the process of acting or performing something, make emphasises more the product or outcome of an action:

When I was [action]doing the calculations, I [outcome]made two mistakes.
I [action]did some work for her last summer; I [outcome]made a pond in her garden.
Examples of nouns used with do and make
Nouns which combine with do
	activity
	damage
	favour
	job
	task

	business
	drawing
	gardening
	laundry
	test

	cleaning
	duty
	harm
	one’s best
	washing (up)

	cooking
	exam(ination)
	homework
	painting
	work

	course
	exercise
	ironing
	shopping
	


I do the shopping on Fridays usually.
Could you do a job for me next week?
Who does the cooking in your house?
Nouns which combine with make
	apology
	coffee
	excuse
	love
	offer
	remark

	assumption
	comment
	friends
	lunch
	phone call
	sound

	bed
	complaint
	guess
	mess
	plan
	soup

	breakfast
	dinner
	law
	mistake
	profit
	speech

	cake
	effort
	list
	money
	progress
	statement

	change
	error
	loss
	noise
	promise
	tea


They made me an interesting offer of a job in Warsaw.
Not many building firms will make a profit this year.
I have to make a phone call.
Unit 2

Grammar Present perfect
Present perfect simple (I have worked)

from English Grammar Today
Present perfect simple: form

We use have/has + the -ed form of the verb.

	+
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	(full form)

have
has
	worked.

	
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	(short form)

’ve
’s
	

	−
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	(full form)

have not
has not
	worked.

	
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	(short form)

haven’t
hasn’t
	

	? +
	Have
Has
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	worked?

	? −
	(full form)

Have
Has
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	not
	worked?

	
	(short form)

Haven’t
Hasn’t
	I, you, we, they
she, he, it
	


Present perfect simple: uses

We use the present perfect simple to refer to events in the past but which connect to the present.

Experiences

We use the present perfect simple to talk about our experiences up to now. The time of the experiences is not important:

[talking about musical theatre productions]

And I’ve seen ‘Buddy’ and I’ve seen ‘Starlight Express’ in London. And I want to see ‘Phantom of the Opera’ next.
We’re going to Wagamama’s for dinner tonight. I’ve been there a couple of times before.
Although we do not give a specific time, we often use general time expressions like ever, never, before, in my life, so far, up until now with this use of the present perfect simple:

We haven’t met before, have we?
They’ve sold 110 so far. (so far = from a point in the past up until now)

We often use ever, not … ever and never when we talk about experiences:

It was the worst performance we have ever seen.
Have you ever tried to write your name and address with your left hand?
She’s never said sorry for what she did.
We often use the present perfect simple for a unique experience when we are using a superlative:

I felt the happiest I have ever felt. My first Olympic final; the bronze medal; European record of 9.97 seconds.
The dome of the Blue Mosque at Isfahan is the most beautiful building I have ever seen.
It was the best decision I have ever made in my life.
It’s the worst sports programme I have ever seen and the first I have ever turnedoff.
We usually use the present perfect simple with the first time when we’re talking about an immediate, continuing or recent event:

That’s the first time I’ve seen you get angry.
Recent completed events

We use the present perfect simple to talk about a finished event or state in the very recent past. We do not give a specific time. We often use words like just or recently for events taking place a very short time before now:

What’s this? What’s just happened?
The company employs around 400 staff and has recently opened an office in the UK.
Niki and John have just come back from a week in Spain.
Past events, present results

We use the present perfect simple when a single past action has a connection with the present:

She’s broken her arm in two places. (Her arm is still broken now.)

Why haven’t you dressed in something warmer? (You got dressed in the past but the clothes are not warm enough for now.)

A fire has broken out at a disused hotel on the seafront. (The fire is burning now; it’s a recent event too.)

Your flowers haven’t arrived. (Your flowers are not here; they were supposed to arrive in the past.)

Time + for and since
We use the present perfect simple with for and since to talk about a present situation that began at a specific point in the past and is still going on in the present. We are looking back from the present to a point in the past.

Compare

	That house on the corner has been empty for three years.
Not: … since three years.
	For refers to periods of time, e.g. three years, four hours, ages, a long time, months, years.

	That house on the corner has been empty since2006.
Not: … for 2006.
	Since refers to a previous point in time, e.g. last Monday, last year, 1987, yesterday.

	The house was empty in 2006 and it is still empty now. (speaking in 2011)


How long …?
We often use expressions with for and since to answer the question How long …+present perfect simple. We use the How long …? question to ask about the duration of a state or activity:

A: How long have you worked there?
B: Since 21 August. So for about four months.

Yet
We use yet + the present perfect simple, mainly in questions and negative statements, to refer to things we intend to do in the future but which are not done:

Don’t wash up that cup. I haven’t finished my coffee yet. (I intend to finish it.)

Haven’t you done your homework yet? (You intend to do it.)

Already
We use already + the present perfect simple when we want to emphasise that something is done or achieved, often before the expected time:

I’ve already booked my flight home.
A: Will you go and clean your teeth!
B: I’ve already cleaned them.

Still

We use still + the present perfect simple when we want to emphasise that something we expected to happen continues not to happen:

She still hasn’t said sorry to me.
I feel really tired. I still haven’t recovered from the jet lag.
Introducing past time events

The present perfect simple is often used in newspaper headlines or TV news programmes to report a recent past event. It is then followed by a series of verbs in the past simple (underlined):

Charlton Heston has died aged 84, a spokesman for his family has said. Heston diedon Saturday at his home in Beverly Hills. His wife Lydia, whom he married in 1944, was at his side. Heston won a best actor Oscar for his starring role in the epic ‘Ben Hur’.
We can also use the present perfect simple to introduce an ‘open’ general point about something. We can then use the past simple (underlined) to give more detailed specific information:

Have you seen any Arthur Miller plays? I saw a fantastic production of ‘The Crucible’.
American English

In American English the past simple is often used instead of the present perfect simple, often with already and yet.

Compare

	American English
	British English

	Did you eat (yet)?
Did you finish (already)?
	Have you eaten (yet)?
Have you finished (already)?


Present perfect: typical errors

from English Grammar Today
· We don’t use since with periods of time:

I’ve lived here for most of my life.
Not: … since most of my life.

· We don’t use the present simple or the present continuous when we talk about ‘time up to now’. We use the present perfect:

They’ve known each other since January.
Not: They know each other since January.

Not: They’re knowing each other since January.

· We usually use the present perfect simple with the first time when we’re talking about an immediate, continuing or recent event:

Was that the first time you’ve played that song?
Not: Was that the first time you play that song?
Never or not … ever?
from English Grammar Today
We can use not … ever instead of never, but never is much more common:

She has never been a friend of ours. (or, less common, She hasn’t ever been a friend of ours.)

Never forget where you came from, your family, your childhood friends. (or, less common, Don’t ever forget where you came from …)

A: Why don’t you go to college and get a degree?
B: I haven’t really ever thought about it. I’m too old now anyway. (or, more common, I’ve never really thought about it.)

Warning:
We don’t use not … ever at the beginning of a statement (in front position):

Never had they seen so many strangers in their village all at the same time.
Not: Not ever had they seen so many strangers …

Present perfect continuous 

                (I have been working)

from English Grammar Today
Present perfect continuous: form

We use have/has + been + the -ing form of the verb.

	+
	she, he, it
I, you, we, they
	has
have
	been working.

	−
	she, he, it
I, you, we, they
	(full form)

has not
have not
	been working.

	
	she, he, it
I, you, we, they
	(short form)

hasn’t
haven’t
	

	? +
	Has
Have
	she, he, it
I, you, we, they
	been working?

	? −
	(full form)

Has
Have
	she, he, it
I, you, we, they
	not
	been working?

	
	(short form)

Hasn’t
Haven’t
	she, he, it
I, you, we, they
	


Present perfect continuous: uses

Recent past activities

We use the present perfect continuous to talk about a finished activity in the recent past. Using the present perfect continuous focuses on the activity.

We don’t give a specific time. Even though the activity is finished, we can see the result in the present:

I’ve just been cleaning the car. (The car is wet and clean.)

It’s been snowing. (The ground is covered in snow.)

What have you been buying?
One continuing event

We use the present perfect continuous for a single activity that began at a point in the past and is still continuing:

I’ve been reading your book – it’s great. (I’m still reading it.)

He’s been living in the village since 1995. (He is still living in the village.)

She has been writing her autobiography since 1987.
Repeated continuing events

We use the present perfect continuous to talk about repeated activities which started at a particular time in the past and are still continuing up until now:

I’ve been going to Spain on holiday every year since 1987.
I haven’t been eating much lunch lately. I’ve been going to the gym at lunchtimes.
She’s been playing tennis on and off for three years.
How long …?
We often use the present perfect continuous to ask and answer questions about the duration of an activity. We use the question How long …+ present perfect continuous:

A:

How long have you been waiting for me?
B:

About ten minutes. Not too long. (I’ve been waiting for about ten minutes.)

Present perfect simple or present perfect continuous?

from English Grammar Today
Completed or continuing events

We use the present perfect simple with action verbs to emphasise the completion of an event in the recent past. We use the present perfect continuous to talk about ongoing events or activities which started at a time in the past and are still continuing up until now.

Compare
	I’ve written the Politics essay.
	Completed event.

	I’ve been writing the Politics essay.
	Ongoing activity: I’m still writing it.


Compare
	I’ve thought about buying a laptop.
	Suggests that I’m not thinking about it any more.

	I’ve been thinking about buying a new laptop for a while but I haven’t decided which one to get.
	Focuses on the action of thinking over a period of time up to now.


Sometimes we can use either form and the meaning is the same:

I’ve lived here for 20 years.
I’ve been living here for 20 years.
Warning:
The present perfect continuous form is not normally used with verbs that refer to actions that are completed at a single point in time such as start, stop, finish:

Has the concert started already?
Not: Has the concert been starting already?
Mental process and sense verbs

Some verbs are not used very often in the continuous form.

We don’t use the continuous form with verbs of mental process (know, like, understand, believe):

They haven’t known each other for very long.
Not: They haven’t been knowing each other for very long.

We don’t use the continuous form with verbs of the senses (hear, smell, taste):

Have you heard the news?
Not: Have you been hearing the news?
Spoken English:
In speaking you will sometimes hear these verbs used in the continuous form to refer to events that are ongoing or temporary:

I’ve been hearing some strange noises coming from outside.
Unit 3

Grammar 
Future forms and tenses
Future

from English Grammar Today
There is no future tense in English. We use several different ways to talk about the future. The most common are:

They’re going to build a new shopping centre here. (be going to)

Leena is working in Singapore next week. (present continuous)

I think they will postpone the match. (modal verb will)

Nadia arrives in about half-an-hour from now. (present simple)

I’ll be running ten kilometres a day for the next two weeks to get ready for the marathon. (future continuous)

We’re late. Do you think the lecture will have started? (future perfect)

We’re just about to leave for the cinema. (be about to)

The president is to visit Brazil in November. (be to)

The visitors are due to arrive at the factory early in the morning. (be due to)

I was on the point of leaving my job but then I got promoted so I changed my mind.(be on the point of)

She promised she would return soon. (future in the past)

They said they were having a holiday next April. (future in the past)

Future: other expressions to talk about the future

from English Grammar Today
We use a number of expressions with main verb be when we refer to the future, especially the immediate future.

Be about to
We use be about to + base form of the verb to refer to things that we expect to happen very soon. We often use it with just, for emphasis:

The ferry is about to leave.
The driver is about to collect them. Shall I phone to stop him?
We’re just about to set off for a walk. Do you want to come?
Warning:

With time expressions, we don’t use be about to, we use the present simple:

Hurry up, please! The coach is about to leave!
Hurry up, please! The coach leaves in five minutes!
Not: The coach is about to leave in five minutes!
Be on the point of
We can also use be on the point of + -ing form to refer to things that we expect to happen very soon. Be on the point of is similar to be just about to:

I was on the point of leaving my job but then I got promoted so I changed my mind.
Be due to
We use be due to + base form of the verb to talk about things that are scheduled:

The visitors are due to arrive at the factory at 10:30.
Be to
Be to + base form of the verb has a number of meanings. It is rather formal.

Obligations

Be to refers to what someone is obliged or required to do. We also use it to refer to formal decisions:

[referring to an obligation]

If I am not to tell anyone, then that’s simply not fair.
[making decisions at a business meeting]

So, George is to contact the Stockholm office, and Patricia is to speak to the Elsico representative. Agreed?
Commands and instructions

We can also use be to when we give someone commands or instructions:

You are to report to the head office by 8.30 am.
She’s not to be late. OK?
Headlines

Be to is common in newspaper headlines to refer to events which have been fixed or decided. We don’t always use the verb:

Prime Minister to announce emergency plan on climate change. (a headline – used without a verb) (Full form: The Prime Minister is to announce an emergency plan on climate change.)

Be expressions (be able to, be due to)

from English Grammar Today
Be about to
Be about to is used to talk about things which are going to happen very soon:

I’m about to eat. Can I phone you back?
It is often used with just:

We’re just about to set off for a walk. Do you want to come?
When used in the past, be about to can refer to things that were going to happen but didn’t:

I was about to complain but he came over and apologised.
We don’t use be about to with time expressions:

I was about to call you.
Not: I was about to call you in ten minutes.

Be able to
Abilities

Be able to is like can. We use it to talk about abilities. We often use it in places where it is not possible to use can. For example, it isn’t possible to use can after another modal verb:

She won’t be able to concentrate.
Not: She won’t can concentrate.

He should be able to work in a team.
Not: He should can work in a team.

Be able to is a more formal alternative to can:

I am very sorry but I am not able to give you that information. (or, less formal: I cannot give you that information.)

Past achievement: could or was/were able to?

We usually use was/were able to, not could to talk about past achievements in affirmative clauses. This is because they are facts, rather than possibilities:

Only one person was able to beat the record.
Not: Only one person could beat the record.

We use couldn’t or, more formally, wasn’t/weren’t able to in negative clauses:

We weren’t able to finish the marathon in under four hours. (or We couldn’t finish the marathon …)
Be due to
Be due to is used to talk about things that are expected or planned to happen at a certain time. We often use it with a time expression:

Are you due to hand in homework today?
The train is due to arrive at Glasgow Central at 12:12.
Be likely to
Be likely to is used to talk about how probable things are:

Are parents who have a lot of money likely to spoil their children?
It is often used to make comparisons with words like more and less:

I think men are more likely to spend a lot of money on food than women are.
A: I liked Budapest as well.

B: Yeah. I’m probably less likely to go back there than to Prague.

We also use it’s likely followed by that + clause:

It’s likely that sales will rise.
We form the negative of be likely to and be likely that either with not or with unlikely. Unlikely is more formal:

The company is not likely to make a profit in the second half of the year.
People are unlikely to listen to him now because they know he lied.
Be meant to
Be meant to is used to talk about what is desirable, expected or intended:

A:It looks green to me.

B: Oh, is it meant to be a different colour?
It was meant to be like a quiz and we were all in different teams and there was meant to be a fantastic prize.
Be supposed to
Be supposed to is used to talk about obligations and arrangements:

Where were you? You were supposed to be at the party!
You’re supposed to have an hour for lunch. That’s the law.
It’s also used to talk about people’s expectations or beliefs about something:

[talking about some medicine]

A: Take some of this.

B: What’s it supposed to do? (What does it do to you?)

And then I’m gonna get a train over to Brussels which takes all day as well. It’s supposed to be a nice route with forests and mountains and things. (gonnarepresents ‘going to’, as it is pronounced in informal speaking.)

Future: will and shall

from English Grammar Today
Will and shall: form

Will and shall are modal verbs. They are used with the base form of the main verb (They will go; I shall ask her). Shall is only used for future time reference with I and we, and is more formal than will.

	
	singular and plural
	
	

	+
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(full form)

will or shall
will
	work

	
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(short form)

’ll
	

	−
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(full form)

will not or shall not
will not
	work

	
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(short form)

won’t or shan’t
won’t
	

	? +
Will or Shall
Will
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	
	work?

	? −
Won’t or Shan’t
Won’t
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	
	


’ll: short forms of shall and will
Spoken English:

In speaking, shall and will are usually contracted to ’ll, especially after subject pronouns (I, we, you, they, she, he, it):

We’ll meet you outside the coffee shop. (more common in speaking than We will meet you outside the coffee shop)

Will and shall: uses

Predictions

We use will and shall to make predictions and to state facts about the future:

There will be strong winds tomorrow in the south of the country.
The year 2025 will be the four-hundredth anniversary of the founding of the university.
We shall need an extra bedroom when the new baby arrives.
Decisions and offers

Will and shall (usually in the short form ’ll) are used to announce decisions and to make offers:

[a salesperson in a clothes shop is talking to a customer]

A: Which size do you want? Medium or large?
B: I’ll have large. (decision)

Wait. I’ll open the door for you. (offer)

Not: Wait. I open the door for you.

I shall contact you again when I have further information.
Shall with I and we
We can use shall instead of will with I and we in statements. Its use is more formal:

We shall never forget the holiday we had in Vietnam.
When we use shall I and shall we in questions it is usually to make suggestions rather than to refer to future time:

It’s getting late. Shall we go home?
Shall I invite Louisa and Jill to the party?
Future: be going to (I am going to work)

from English Grammar Today
Be going to: form

We use be going to + the base form of the verb:

I’m going to take a few exams at the end of the year.
It’s going to be difficult to get a job during the summer as the tourist industry is suffering from the economic downturn.
Be going to: uses

Be going to is commonly used in informal styles.

Intentions

We use be going to to talk about future plans and intentions. Usually the decision about the future plans has already been made:

She’s going to be a professional dancer when she grows up.
I’m going to look for a new place to live next month.
Predictions

We use be going to to predict something that we think is certain to happen or which we have evidence for now:

It’s going to snow again soon. (The speaker can probably see dark snow clouds.)

Look out! He’s going to break that glass.
Commands

We use be going to when we give commands or state that something is obligatory:

[parent to a child]

You’re going to pick up all of those toys right now. This room is a mess!
Gonna (informal contexts)

Spoken English:
We use gonna /gənə/ instead of going to in informal contexts, especially in speaking and in song lyrics. We write gonna to show how to pronounce it:

Are you gonna try and get stuff sorted as soon as you can then? (Are you going to try and get things organised as soon as you can?)

One day I’m gonna be a star.
Be going to or will?
Will is often used in a similar way to be going to. Will is used when we are talking about something with absolute certainty. Be going to is used when we want to emphasise our decision or the evidence in the present:

[An ‘A’ road is a main road. A ‘B’ road is a smaller road.]

We are now very late so we’re going to take the ‘B’ road. (the speaker refers to the present and emphasises the decision)

I know the ‘B’ road will be quicker at this time of day. (the speaker states a fact)

Future continuous (I will be working)

from English Grammar Today
Future continuous: form

We use will/shall + be + the -ing form of the verb.

	
	singular and plural
	
	

	+
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	will
’ll
	be working

	−
	I, she, he, it, we, you, they
I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(full form)

will not
(short form)

won’t
	be working

	? + Will
? − Won’t
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	
	be working?


Less commonly, and in more formal situations, we can also use shall instead of will with I and we.

Future continuous: use

We use the future continuous to refer to temporary actions and events that will be in progress at a particular time in the future:

This time next week, I’ll be taking photographs with my new camera.

I’ll post your letter for you. I’ll be passing a post-box.
Next week they will be flying to Australia from Saudi Arabia.
She will not be working on Tuesday.
Unfortunately we won’t be attending the wedding.
Future perfect simple 

    (I will have worked eight hours)

from English Grammar Today
Future perfect simple: form

We use will/shall + have + the -ed form of the verb.

We use shall only for future time reference with I and we. Shall is more formal than will.

	
	singular and plural
	
	

	+
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(full form)

will or shall
will
	have worked

	
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(short form)

’ll
	

	−
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(full form)

will not or shall not
will not
	have worked

	
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(short form)

won’t or shan’t
won’t
	

	? + Will
? − Won’t
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	
	have worked?


Note: Shall I, shall we and shan’t I, shan’t we in future perfect questions are rare.

Future perfect simple: use

Events finished by a certain time in the future

We use the future perfect form when we look back to the past from a point in the future. We usually use a time phrase, for example by tomorrow, for three years:

Do you think she’ll have seen the doctor by four o’clock?
Next month my parents will have been together for thirty years.
At the end of this month, they will have been in their house for one year.
Next month I will have worked for the company for six years.
I think they’ll have got there by six o’clock.
Won’t she have retired by the end of the year? (more common than Will she not have retired?)

Future perfect continuous (I will have been working here ten years)

from English Grammar Today
Future perfect continuous: form

We use will/shall + have + been + the -ing form of the verb.

We use shall only for future time reference with I and we. Shall is more formal and less common than will.

	
	singular and plural
	
	

	+
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(full form)

will or shall
will
	have been working

	
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	(short form)

’ll
	

	−
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(full form)

will not or shall not
will not
	have been working

	
	I, we
she, he, it, you, they
	(short form)

won’t or shan’t
won’t
	

	? + Will
? − Won’t
	I, she, he, it, you, we, they
	
	have been working?


Note: Shall I, shall we and shan’t I, shan’t we in future perfect continuous questions are rare.

Future perfect continuous: use

Emphasising the length of an event at a time in the future

We use the future perfect continuous form when we are looking back to the past from a point in the future and we want to emphasise the length or duration of an activity or event:

In September the head teacher will have been teaching at the school for 20 years.
In September, she will have been living in France for a year.
I will have been studying English for three years by the end of this course.
We’re late. I think they’ll have been waiting for us. We’d better go.
Future: typical errors

from English Grammar Today
We don’t use the present continuous when we predict something:

You’re going to fail the exam unless you attend more classes.
Not: You’re failing the exam, unless …

When we make an immediate decision, we use ’ll not will or shall or the simple present tense:

Wait a minute, I’ll lend you my car.
Not: … I shall lend you my car. or … I lend you my car.

Unit 4

Grammar Relative clauses
Relative pronouns

from English Grammar Today
Relative pronouns introduce relative clauses. The most common relative pronouns are who, whom, whose, which, that. The relative pronoun we use depends on what we are referring to and the type of relative clause.

	who
	people and sometimes pet animals
	defining and non-defining

	which
	animals and things
	defining and non-defining; clause referring to a whole sentence

	that
	people, animals and things; informal
	defining only

	whose
	possessive meaning;

for people and animals usually; sometimes for things in formal situations
	defining and non-defining

	whom
	people in formal styles or in writing; often with a preposition; rarely in conversation; used instead of who if who is the object
	defining and non-defining

	no relative pronoun
	when the relative pronoun defines the object of the clause
	defining only


(In the examples, the relative pronoun is in brackets to show where it is not essential; the person or thing being referred to is underlined.)

We don’t know the person who donated this money.
We drove past my old school, which is celebrating its 100th anniversary this year.
He went to the school (that) my father went to.
The Kingfisher group, whose name was changed from Woolworths earlier this year, includes about 720 high street shops. Superdrug, which last week announced that it is buying Medicare, is also part of the group.
The parents (whom/who/that) we interviewed were all involved in education in some way.
Relative pronouns: who
We use who in relative clauses to refer to people, and sometimes to pet animals. We use it to introduce defining and non-defining relative clauses:

I think there’d be a lot of children who’d love to have a climbing wall in school.(defining)

That’s the dog who doesn’t like me. (defining; referring to a pet animal)

There’s this guy at work, who’s one of my friends, well he’s never been on a train.(non-defining)

Subjects and objects

Who can act as the subject or the object of the relative clause:

She’s going out with a bloke who’s in the army. (who refers to a bloke and is the subject of is in the relative clause; bloke is an informal word for a man)

The woman who I saw yesterday was Sheila. (who refers to the woman and is the object of saw in the relative clause)

Who + prepositions

We can use who as the complement of a preposition:

It was Cath who Ian gave the keys to. It wasn’t me. (who refers to Cath and is the complement of the preposition to)

We put the preposition at the end of the relative clause, and not immediately before who:

Of all my friends, she’s the one who I know I can rely on.
Not: … the one on who I know I can rely.

Who with collective groups of people

We often use who with collective human nouns (e.g. committee, government, group, panel, police, team):

Nicola phoned the fire brigade, who then alerted the police and social workers.
We do not use who for things:

There are some very good art books which you can get ideas from.
Not: There are some very good art books who you can get ideas from.

Relative pronouns: whom

Warning:
We use whom in formal styles or in writing to refer to people when the person is the object of the verb. It is much more common in writing than in speaking:

The response of those managers whom I have consulted has been very positive and we are looking forward to meeting together. (whom refers to those managers and is the object of consulted in the relative clause)

She was a celebrated actress whom he had known and loved, on and off, almost since her first appearance on the stage.
Whom + prepositions

The most common use of whom is with a preposition. We can use whom as the complement of a preposition:

The first book was a terrible historical novel for children which was turned down by every publisher to whom it was sent. (whom refers to every publisher and is the complement of the preposition to)

Drama in schools is particularly good for pupils for whom English is a second language.
We put the preposition before whom.

Compare
	more formal
	less formal

	There was only one person to whom the old man spoke.
	There was only one person whothe old man spoke to.

	She smiled as she remembered the quiet scholar with whom she had shared a love of books.
	She smiled as she remembered the quiet scholar who she had shared a love of books with.


Relative pronoun: whose

We usually use whose as a relative pronoun to indicate possession by people and animals. In more formal styles we can also use it for things.

We use whose before nouns instead of a possessive expression (my, your, his, her, its, our, their, x’s) in defining and non-defining clauses:

He’s marrying a girl whose family don’t seem to like him. (The family of the girl he’s marrying don’t seem to like him.)

There was me and there was Kate, whose party it was, and then there were two other people. (It was Kate’s party.)

It is a rambling Tudor house, whose sitting room looks out over a wonderful walled garden. (The sitting room of the house looks out over …)

Whose + prepositions

We can use whose + noun as the complement of a preposition:

Kate, whose sister I used to shared a house with, has gone to work in Australia.(whose sister refers to Kate and is the complement of with)

We can put the preposition immediately before the relative pronoun (more formal written styles) or at the end of the relative clause (more informal).

Compare
	more formal
	more informal

	Thomas Goldney III, in whosehouse and garden several generations of Bristol students have now lived, was described in the late 18th century as ‘a very curious gentleman’.
	Thomas Goldney III, whosehouse and garden several generations of Bristol students have now lived in, was described in the late 18th century as ‘a very curious gentleman’.


Relative pronouns: which

We use which in relative clauses to refer to animals and to things. We use it to introduce defining and non-defining relative clauses. We always use which to introduce relative clauses when they refer to a whole sentence or clause:

You need to tick the box which says yes. (defining)

He won’t have much time to prepare for the meeting, which is this afternoon. (non-defining)

She had to get up and walk all the way to the other side of the room, which isn’t easy with a bad back. (which refers to the whole sentence before it)

We use which or that, not what:

Another activity which/that I have chosen is photography.
Not: Another activity what I have chosen is photography.

Subjects and objects

Which can act as the subject or the object of the relative clause:

The new sports complex, which will be built on the site of the old power station, will provide facilities for cricket, soccer, bowls and badminton. (which refers to the new sports complex and is the subject of will be built in the relative clause)

It was the same picture which I saw at the National Gallery. (which refers to the same picture and is the object of saw in the relative clause)

Which + prepositions

We can use which as the complement of a preposition:

Early in the Autumn Term there is a reception at which you can meet current staff and students. (which refers to a reception and is the complement of at)

Close by, in the churchyard, is the famous Rudston stone, from which the village takes its name. (which refers to the famous Rudston stone and is the complement of from)

We can put the preposition immediately before the relative pronoun (more formal) or at the end of the relative clause (more informal).

Compare
	more formal
	more informal

	The title of the poem indicates that the poet knows himself to be separated from the community in which he grew up.
	I’ve never felt close to the communitywhich I grew up in.


Which referring to a whole sentence

Relative clauses referring to a whole sentence are always introduced by which:

There’s going to be a new headteacher in September, which is good. It’s time for a change.
[talking about a playschool for young children]

A:

It’s lovely and clean there, and there are lots of toys that he can play with and he’s so happy.
B:

Which is much more important.

Relative pronouns: that

We use that instead of who, whom or which in relative clauses to refer to people, animals and things. We use it to introduce defining clauses only. That is more informal than who, whom or which:

We met somebody last night that did the speech therapy course two years after you.(refers to a person)

The 8.30 is the train that you need to get. (refers to a thing)

She blamed herself for everything that had happened.
Subjects and objects

That can act as the subject or the object of the relative clause:

He finally remembers one lesson that his mum had taught him early – Don’t take money that doesn’t belong to you. (that refers to money and is the subject of belong in the relative clause)

It’s the same cooker that my mother has. (that refers to the same cooker and is the object of has in the relative clause)

That after superlatives

We often use that after superlatives:

The Wimbledon men’s final was the best game of tennis that I’ve ever seen.
That + prepositions

That can refer to the complement of a preposition:

We’ve got some tennis balls that you can play with. (that refers to some tennis ballsand is the complement of the preposition with)

Warning:
Unlike which, whom and whose, we can’t use that with the preposition immediately before it:

Not: We’ve got some tennis balls with that you can play.

No relative pronoun

In informal styles, we often leave out the relative pronoun. We only do this in defining relative clauses, and when the relative pronoun is the object of the verb. We don’t leave out the relative pronoun when it is the subject of the verb nor in non-defining relative clauses:

German is a language which I’ve found hard to learn. (or German is a language I’ve found hard to learn.) (defining relative clause: which is the object)

She’s the singer who I heard on the radio. (or She’s the singer I heard on the radio.) (defining relative clause: who is the object)

There’s a hill which begins three miles after the start of the race. (defining relative clause: which is the subject)

Not: There’s a hill begins three miles after the start of the race.

Sir James, whose birthday is on February 26, plans to lay on a big party. (non-defining relative clause)

No relative pronoun + preposition

In defining relative clauses, we can also leave out the relative pronoun when it is the complement of a preposition. When we do this, we always put the preposition at the end of the relative clause:

She was at the garden party which I was telling you about. (or She was at the garden party about which I was telling you. or She was at the garden party I was telling youabout.) (defining relative clause: which is the complement of about)

Relative pronouns: when, where and why
In informal language, we often use where, when or why to introduce defining relative clauses instead of at which, on which or for which.

	where
	places
	I know a restaurant where the food is excellent.
(… a restaurant at which the food is excellent)

	when
	times
	There isn’t a day when I don’t feel rushed off my feet.
(… a day on which I don’t feel rushed …)

	why
	reasons
	Do you know the reason why the shop is closed today?
(… the reason for which the shop is closed …)


Relative pronouns: typical errors

· We can’t use that instead of who, whom or which in non-defining relative clauses:

It gives me a good chance to improve my Italian, which has become a little bit rusty.
Not: It gives me a good chance to improve my Italian, that has become a little bit rusty.

· We don’t use what as a relative pronoun:

So, he can make himself easily understood in the two languages, which helps a lot.
Not: So, he can make himself easily understood in the two languages, what helps a lot.

· We don’t use who for things:

She’s written some great cookery books which have got pictures of delicious-looking recipes.
Not: She’s written some great cookery books who have got pictures of delicious-looking recipes.

· Take care to spell which correctly: not ‘wich’.

Relative clauses

from English Grammar Today
Relative clauses give us more information about someone or something. We can use relative clauses to combine clauses without repeating information.

Compare
	The couple posted a Christmas present to their daughter, who lives in South Africa.
	The couple posted a Christmas present to their daughter.
Their daughter lives in South Africa.

	Using a relative clause means that there is no need to repeat ‘their daughter’.


We can use relative clauses to give focus to something or someone.

Compare
	This is the book which we’re reading at the moment.
	We’re reading this book at the moment.

	She’s the woman who I was talking about.
	I was talking about the woman.


Types of relative clause

There are two types of relative clause: one type refers to a noun or noun phrase (these are defining and non-defining relative clauses) and the other type refers to a whole sentence or clause, especially in speaking.

Defining and non-defining relative clauses

Defining and non-defining relative clauses define or describe the noun (or noun phrase) that comes before them (In the examples, the relative clause is in bold, and the person or thing that is referred to is underlined.):

He’s going to show you the rooms that are available. (that are available defines the rooms; it tells us which rooms)

Dodingson, 22, who boxed in two Olympics, will be managed by his close friend Colin McFarllan. (who boxed in two Olympics describes Dodingson; it is extra information about him)

Relative clauses referring to a whole sentence

The other type of relative clause refers to a whole sentence or stretch of language (they are sometimes called sentential relative clauses). This type of relative clause is always introduced with which. In writing we usually put a comma before which:

But I think Sean was a bit upset about that, which is understandable. (which is understandable refers to the whole clause before it [underlined]: that Sean was upset about something)

She goes to Canada and stays with her daughter, and then her daughter comes here the next year. Every other year they change places you know. Which is nice. (Which is nice refers to the whole stretch of text before it [underlined]. This is common in speaking but not in writing.)

Relative clauses referring to a whole sentence

from English Grammar Today
Some relative clauses refer to a whole clause, a whole sentence, or a longer stretch of language. We always use which to introduce these clauses.

We often use these clauses in informal speaking to express an opinion or evaluation (In the examples, the relative clause is in bold, and the clause or person that is referred to is underlined.):

I think the other thing that was really good about it as well was that everybody worked really hard and helped tidy up at the end, which I hadn’t expected at all.
Spoken English:
In speaking, a second speaker often uses a which-clause like this to evaluate or give an opinion on something the first speaker has said:

[The speakers are talking about trains. Paddington is a train station in London.]

A:

So it leaves Paddington at 8.30 and it’ll get me into Gloucester at 10.15.

B:

Which is perfect because I can pick you up on my way home. (Speaker B is evaluating the fact that the train gets into Gloucester at 10.15.)

Sometimes the same speaker may add a which-clause after a response by a listener:

A: I was already working with them doing a temporary job and I was asked if I would go on a permanent contract.

B: Oh right.

A: Which I did. (Speaker A was offered a permanent job contract and accepted the offer.)

In speaking we sometimes pause before these clauses:

She just lives six doors away, [pause] which is very handy.
Relative clauses: defining and non-defining

from English Grammar Today
Defining relative clauses

We use defining relative clauses to give essential information about someone or something – information that we need in order to understand what or who is being referred to. A defining relative clause usually comes immediately after the noun it describes.

We usually use a relative pronoun (e.g. who, that, which, whose and whom) to introduce a defining relative clause (In the examples, the relative clause is in bold, and the person or thing being referred to is underlined.):

They’re the people who want to buy our house.
Here are some cells which have been affected.
They should give the money to somebody who they think needs the treatment most.
[talking about an actress]

She’s now playing a woman whose son was killed in the First World War.
Spoken English:
In defining relative clauses we often use that instead of who, whom or which. This is very common in informal speaking:

They’re the people that want to buy our house.
Here are some cells that have been affected.
Subject or object

The relative pronoun can define the subject or the object of the verb:

They’re the people who/that bought our house. (The people bought our house. The people is the subject.)

They’re the people who/that she met at Jon’s party. (She met the people. The people is the object.)

Here are some cells which/that show abnormality. (Some cells show abnormality. Some cells is the subject.)

Here are some cells which/that the researcher has identified. (The researcher has identified some cells. Some cells is the object.)

No relative pronoun

We often leave out the relative pronoun when it is the object of the verb:

They’re the people she met at Jon’s party.
Here are some cells the researcher has identified.
Punctuation

Warning:
In writing, we don’t use commas in defining relative clauses:

This is a man who takes his responsibilities seriously.
Not: This is a man, who takes his responsibilities seriously.

Nouns and pronouns in relative clauses

When the relative pronoun is the subject of the relative clause, we don’t use another personal pronoun or noun in the relative clause because the subject (underlined) is the same:

She’s the lady who lent me her phone. (who is the subject of the relative clause, so we don’t need the personal pronoun she)

Not: She’s the lady who she lent me her phone.

There are now only two schools in the area that actually teach Latin. (that is the subject of the relative clause, so we don’t need the personal pronoun they)

Not: There are now only two schools in the area that they actually teach Latin.

When the relative pronoun is the object of the relative clause, we don’t use another personal pronoun or noun in the relative clause because the object (underlined) is the same:

We had a lovely meal at the place which Phil recommended. (which is the object of the relative clause, so we don’t need the personal pronoun it)

Not: We had a lovely meal at the place which Phil recommended it.

Non-defining relative clauses

We use non-defining relative clauses to give extra information about the person or thing. It is not necessary information. We don’t need it to understand who or what is being referred to.

We always use a relative pronoun (who, which, whose or whom) to introduce a non-defining relative clause (In the examples, the relative clause is in bold, and the person or thing being referred to is underlined.)

Clare, who I work with, is doing the London marathon this year.
Not: Clare, I work with, is doing the London marathon this year.

Doctors use the testing kit for regular screening for lung and stomach cancers, which account for 70% of cancers treated in the western world.
Alice, who has worked in Brussels and London ever since leaving Edinburgh, will be starting a teaching course in the autumn.
Warning:
We don’t use that to introduce a non-defining relative clause:

Allen, who scored three goals in the first game, was the only player to perform well.
Not: Allen, that scored three goals in the first game, was the only player to perform well.

Punctuation

In writing, we use commas around non-defining relative clauses:

Etheridge, who is English-born with Irish parents, replaces Neil Francis, whose injury forced him to withdraw last week.
Spoken English:
In speaking, we often pause at the beginning and end of the clause:

Unlike American firms – which typically supply all three big American car makers – Japanese ones traditionally work exclusively with one maker.(formal)

And this woman – who I’d never met before – came up and spoke to me.(informal)

Defining or non-defining relative clauses?

Sometimes defining and non-defining relative clauses can look very similar but have different meanings.

Compare
	non-defining
	defining

	His brother, who works at the supermarket, is a friend of mine.
He has only one brother, and that brother works at the supermarket.
	His brother who works at the supermarket is a friend of mine.
He has more than one brother. The one I’m talking about works at the supermarket.

	It’s hoped that we will raise £10,000 for local charities, which help the homeless.
The money is intended for local charities. All these local charities help the homeless.
	It’s hoped that we will raise £10,000 for local charities which help the homeless.
The money is intended for local charities. Some of these local charities help the homeless. There are other local charities as well as these.


Warning:
The information in a defining relative clause is essential, so we can’t leave out the relative clause. The information in a non-defining relative clause is extra information which isn’t essential, so we can leave out the relative clause.

Compare
	The soldier who had gold stripes on his uniform seemed to be the most important one.
	A defining relative clause which we can’t leave out; without this information we do not know which soldier the speaker is referring to.

	The tour party was weakened when Gordon Hamilton, who played in the World Cup team, withdrew yesterday because of a back injury, which kept him out of the Five Nations Championship.
	Non-defining relative clauses which we can leave out:

The tour party was weakened when Gordon Hamilton withdrew yesterday because of a back injury.


Warning:
We can use that instead of who, whom or which in defining relative clauses, but not in non-defining relative clauses:

I think anyone who speaks in public is nervous beforehand.
I think anyone that speaks in public is nervous beforehand.
Her car, which was very old, broke down after just five miles.
Not: Her car, that was very old, broke down after just five miles.

Unit 5

Grammar Distributives: all, both, half, each, every, either, neither
ملحوظة لا يوجد جزء فى القواعد عند البحث فى Cambridge  يسمي distributives

All
from English Grammar Today
All as a determiner

All means ‘every one’, ‘the complete number or amount’ or ‘the whole’. We use it most often as a determiner. We can use a countable noun or an uncountable noun after it:

All my friends are away at university.
All tickets cost 25 pounds.
All information about the new product is confidential.
As a determiner, all comes before articles, possessives, demonstratives and numbers.

	
	article
	possessive
	demonstrative
	number
	

	All
	the
	
	
	
	trees had died.

	All
	
	my
	
	
	family were at the party.

	All
	
	
	this
	
	food must be eaten today.

	All
	
	
	
	25
	students took the test.


All with no article

When all refers to a whole class of people or things, we don’t use the:

All children love stories. (i.e. every child in the world)

Not: All the children love stories.

We don’t use the with time expressions such as all day, all night, week, all year, all summer:

I spent all day looking for my car keys.
The party went on all night and some of the neighbours complained.
All of

We use all of before personal pronouns (us, them), demonstrative pronouns (this, that, these, those) and relative pronouns (whom, which). The personal pronoun is in the object form:

I need to speak to all of you for a few minutes.
He brought gifts for all of us.
We had to contact the insurance firm and the airline, all of which took a lot of time.(all of which = ‘contacting the insurance firm and the airline’)

With demonstratives (this, that, these, those) we can say all of or all without of:

[talking about a pile of kitchen waste]

All (of) this has to go out into the rubbish bin.
We often use of after all in definite noun phrases (i.e. before the, possessives and demonstratives), but it is not obligatory:

All (of) the workers were given a pay-rise at the end of the year.
I gave all (of) my old books to my sister when she went to university.
What shall we do with all (of) this cardboard? Throw it out?
All without of

We use all, not all of, before indefinite plural nouns referring to a whole class of people or things:

All cats love milk.
Not: All of cats love milk.

This book was written for all children, everywhere.
We use all, not all of, before uncountable nouns:

All junk food is bad for you.
Not: All of junk food is bad for you.

I love all music, not just classical.
Warning:
We don’t normally say all people; we say everybody or everyone:

Everyone wants to achieve their personal goals in life.
Not: All people want to achieve …

All with personal pronouns

When all refers to a personal pronoun which is the object in a clause, we can use pronoun + all or all of + pronoun. The pronoun is in the object form:

I used to have three pens but I’ve lost them all. (or … but I’ve lost all of them).

Not: … but I lost all them.

However, in short responses, all of must be used:

A: How many of these boxes are you going to need?
B: All of them.

Not: Them all.

We use all of with the object form of the pronoun, even when the pronoun is the subject in the clause:

All of us are hoping for good news.
A long line of people waited to speak to the officer. All of them had a story to tell.
All as a pronoun

We can use all alone as a pronoun in formal situations:

All were happy with the outcome. (less formal: Everyone was happy with the outcome.)

All will be revealed to the public in 25 years’ time, when the cabinet papers are released. (less formal: Everything will be revealed to the public …)

Usually, all as a pronoun is pre modified or post modified:

More than 100 people came to the refugee centre. Almost all had lost family members or property or both.
All that we had been told turned out to be untrue.
All as an adverb

When all refers to the subject of a clause, it usually comes in the normal mid position for adverbs (between the subject and the main verb, or after the modal verb or first auxiliary verb, or after be as a main verb):

The kids all go to school on the same bus.
These items could all have been bought cheaper on the Internet.
The students are all here now. We can start.
All meaning ‘completely’ or ‘extremely’

We can also use all as an adverb meaning ‘completely’ or ‘extremely’, especially in informal styles:

He lived all alone in an old cottage in the woods.
He came back all covered in mud.
I lost a good friend, and all because of my stupidity.
Maggie got all upset when she found out the house had been sold. (informal)

All: not all

We can make all negative by using not in front of it:

Not all the buses go to the main bus station, so be careful which one you get.
We weren’t all happy with the result.
All: after all

We use after all in two main ways. We use it to mean ‘in spite of what happened before’. With this meaning it usually occurs in end position:

[spoken by someone who was previously not hungry]

I think I might have something to eat now after all.
She thought she would fail her driving test but she passed after all.
After all can also mean ‘it should be remembered that’:

Why don’t you invite Nadia? After all, you do work with her every day.
Warning:
After all does not mean ‘finally’ or ‘at last’:

We spoke about it and finally decided to sign the contract.
Not: … and after all decided to sign the contract.

Both
from English Grammar Today
We use both to refer to two things or people together:

Both those chairs are occupied, I’m afraid. (The two chairs are occupied.)

Are both your parents going to Chile? (Are your mother and father going to Chile?)

Both with nouns

When we use both before a determiner (e.g. a/an, the, she, his) + noun, both and both of can be used:

She knew both my children. (or … both of my children.)

Both her brothers are living in Canada. (or Both of her brothers …)

We can use both before a noun:

This button starts both engines at the same time. (or … both of the engines …)

Are both cats female?
Both with pronouns

Pronoun + both
We can use both after a subject pronoun or an object pronoun:

We both prefer classical music.
Let’s open them both now.
Both of + object pronoun

When we use both as part of a subject or object which is a pronoun, it may be followed by of + an object pronoun:

We both dislike soap operas. (subject pronoun + both) or Both of us dislike soap operas. (both + of + object pronoun)

She looked at both of us.
We usually use both of + object pronoun after prepositions:

He shouted at both of them. (preferred to He shouted at them both.)

That’ll be so nice for both of you. (preferred to That’ll be so nice for you both.)

Both as a pronoun

We can use both on its own as a pronoun:

There are two youth hostels in the city. Both are described as expensive, dirty, with poor lighting and poor security.
Applicants for this course must speak French or German, preferably both.
Both: position

If both refers to the subject of a clause, we can use it in the normal mid position for adverbs, between the subject and main verb, after a modal verb or the first auxiliary verb, or after be as a main verb:

They both wanted to sell the house. (between the subject and the main verb)

They had both been refused entry to the nightclub. (after the first auxiliary or modal verb)

They were both very nice, kind and beautiful. (after be as a main verb)

Not: They both were very nice …

Both in short answers

We use both on its own in short answers:

A: Would you like something to drink?
B: A coffee and a tea, please.

A: Both?
B: Yeah, one for me and one for Brenda. She’s joining us in a minute.

A: Are you working on Monday or Wednesday next week?
B: Both!
Not: The both.

 Both of or neither of in negative clauses

We usually use neither of rather than both of … not in negative clauses:

Neither of them can swim. (preferred to Both of them can’t swim.)

Neither of my brothers lives at home any more. (preferred to Both of my brothers don’t live at home any more.)

When a negative verb is used, we use either (of). In informal speaking, we often use a plural verb after either, even though it is a singular word:

She didn’t like either dress. (She looked at two dresses.)

A: Are Yvonne and Lesley both coming?
B: We don’t know if either of them are coming. (or, more formally, … if either of them is coming.)

Both … and as a linking expression

We use both … and to emphasise the link between two things. This makes a stronger connection than and alone:

Both Britain and France agree on the treaty. (stronger link than Britain and France agree on the treaty.)

She played both hockey and basketball when she was a student. (stronger link than She played hockey and basketball when she was a student.)
Both: typical errors

· We don’t use both with a negative verb; we use either instead:

There was not a considerable difference in percentages for either sex in terms of having a Bachelor’s degree.
Not: There was not a considerable difference in percentages for both sex. …

· When we use the verb be as a main verb, both comes after the verb:

These films are both famous with people of all ages …
Not: These films both are famous …

Half
from English Grammar Today
A half is one of two equal parts of something:

Half an orange.
The plural of half is halves, pronounced /hɑ:vz/:

She cut it into two halves.
Half in noun phrases

We can use half and half of before nouns with the definite article (the), possessives (my, your) and demonstratives (this, that):

We spent half the time talking. It was an absolute waste of time for all of us.
Why don’t you have half my chocolate?
At least half of those books can be sold.
Half of, not half, can occur with a pronoun as head of the noun phrase:

Almost half of us were not allowed to vote. It was completely unfair.
Half, not half of, is used in the pattern half a/an and is followed by a noun of measurement:

It’s at least half a kilometre to those shops.
Not: … half of a kilometre … or … half kilometre …

It’ll take me half an hour so I’ll see you at the club.
Not: … half of an hour … or … half hour …

Half as an adverb

We can use half as an adverb which means ‘not completely’, ‘partly’:

She’s half French and half Algerian.
The theatre wasn’t even half full.
She is not half as clever as her sister.
Half as a noun

It took them a day and a half to reach the top of the mountain.
He’s lecturing on English painting in the first half of the nineteenth century.
It looks like it’s broken but we should be able to glue the two halves together.
Half as an adjective

They’re offering the flowers for almost half price.
Children under sixteen can travel half fare on trains.
Each

from English Grammar Today
Each is a determiner or a pronoun.

Each: meaning and use

We use each to refer to the individual things or persons in a group of two or more:

We spent five days on the coast and each day we swam in the ocean. (determiner)

There were four rooms, each with wonderful views of the garden. (pronoun)

Each is usually followed by a singular noun or by one:

Each weekend, they would work on the house.
Not: Each weekends …

The houses were made of grey stones and mud bricks, and each one had a flat roof of pressed earth laid over mats.
Each of

We use each of before other determiners and before the plural object pronouns us, youand them:

[talking about a hiking club]

A: There are meetings every month to plan events.

B: That sounds like a lot of planning.

C: Do you go to each of the meetings?
A: I try to.

They were trying to decide where to go on holiday but the problem was that each ofthem wanted to go to different places.
When we use each of with a plural noun as subject, it’s normally followed by a singular verb:

Each of the buildings is surrounded by high metal fencing.
Each of the horses has won major international races.
Spoken English:
In informal speaking, you will hear people use a plural verb form:

A: All twelve of us have decided to go to Argentina together.

B: How will you travel around?
A: We’ve divided ourselves into three groups and each of the groups havehired a car.

For emphasis, we use each one of with determiners and pronouns. When the phrase each one of is the subject, the verb is singular:

Each one of the passport control desks now has a camera as well as a computer.
Each + pronouns and possessives

We use each with plural pronouns and possessives, especially when we don’t want to say he/she, women/men, etc.:

Each person who joins the gym gets a free bag and they get a pass to bring a friend for a free visit. (Each person and they avoids saying each man and woman and he, she.)

Each member of the community should take pride in their local environment.
Each referring to a subject

When we use each to refer to the subject of the clause, it usually appears in the normal mid position for adverbs, between the subject and the main verb, after the modal verb or first auxiliary verb, or after be as a main verb:

We each agreed to help by contributing some money towards the cost.
We would each say a poem or sing a song.
Have you each signed the contract?
Husband and wife are each entitled to invest up to the maximum of£40,000.
Adjective that start with a  asleep

Every
from English Grammar Today
Every is a determiner.

 Every meaning ‘each member of a group’

We use every + singular noun to refer individually to all the members of a complete group of something:

There’s a photograph on the wall of every child in the school.
Try to answer every question.
When every refers to the subject of the clause, we use a singular verb:

Every player wants to be in a winning team.
Not: Every player want …

Every cook needs good knives and a chopping board.
The negative of every is normally not every:

Not every noun has a plural form.
We use singular pronouns and possessives to refer back to every + noun, especially in more formal styles, and especially when what we refer to is not human:

Every store has a manager in charge of it.
Every area has its own park.
In less formal styles, the pronoun or possessive may be plural:

Every student gets a laptop. They have to give it back at the end of the course.
Every user has their own password.
Every: regular situations

We use every with a singular noun to refer to something that happens regularly:

The festival is held every August in Budapest.
I leave the house every morning at 6 am.
Not: I leave the house every mornings at 6 am.

We use every with a number and a plural noun to refer to regular intervals of time or numbers:

There are buses into town every ten minutes.
He now works from home, travelling to Amsterdam every two weeks.
Every day or everyday?
We write two words when every day means each day. The adjective everyday is one word. It means ‘normal’ or ‘usual’:

The boys meet up every day in the park.
Not: The boys meet up everyday in the park.

In the Soviet Union, poetry was at the centre of everyday life.
Every single
We often use single with every to emphasise each member of a complete group of people or things:

He was the only player who played in every single match last season.
I’ve got to photocopy every single page.
Every one or everyone?
We use every one, written as two words, to refer back to a noun we have already mentioned:

I received more than a hundred letters from him while I was away and I’ve kept every one.
Everyone, written as one word, means ‘every person’:

Everyone enjoyed themselves.
We use every one of before pronouns and determiners:

There are 107 two-letter words in the dictionary and John Catto, an Aberdeen lorry driver, knows every one of them.
When Jenkins joined the bank, one of his first acts was to make every one of the bank’s employees reapply for their jobs.
Every other
We use every other to mean ‘alternate’:

We worked every other Sunday. (One Sunday he worked, the next Sunday he didn’t work, the next Sunday he worked, etc.)

He works in Germany every other week. (One week he works in Germany, the next week he doesn’t, the next week he does, etc.)

Every: typical errors

· We don’t use every on its own, without a noun or without one:

There were five rooms. Every room was decorated in a different style.
Not: Every was decorated in a different style.

· We don’t use every with a plural noun:

I go swimming every day.
Not: I go swimming every days.

All or every?
from English Grammar Today
All and every are determiners.

We use both all and every to refer to the total number of something. All refers to a complete group. Every refers to each member of a complete group:

The questionnaire was sent to all employees.
The questionnaire was sent to every employee.
We can use every to focus on each individual member.

Compare
	All passengers must turn off their mobile phones.
	refers to the whole group

	Every passenger must turn off their mobile phone.
(We use their instead of his or her to refer back to a singular noun (passenger) because we are referring to both male and female passengers.)
	focuses on each individual member of the whole group


We can use all, but not every, on its own without a noun. We use everyone/everybody/everything instead:

The meeting is at Oriel Hall. It begins at 8 pm and all are welcome.
Not: … every is welcome
Everyone is welcome to join the village social club.
All and every + nouns

The meaning of all and every is very similar but we use them in different ways. We use allwith plural and uncountable nouns and every with singular nouns:

All donations will be sent to the earthquake relief fund.
All equipment must be returned by the end of June. (uncountable)

Every donation is appreciated.
We can use all and all of before determiners, but we don’t use every before determiners:

I invited all (of) my friends.
Not: … every my friends
All (of) the
We can use all and all of before articles (the, a/an), demonstratives (this, that) and possessives (our, his) but we can’t use every before them:

[talking about a library]

It has got all (of) the books that have ever been published.
Not: It has got every the book or It has got the every book
She’s gone to all (of) their concerts this year. She hasn’t missed one.
Not: … every their concerts
All day, every day
We use all day, all week, all month to mean ‘one entire day/week/month’:

We spent all day at the beach yesterday.
Every day (week/month) focuses on each individual day (week/month):

We spent every day at the beach in the holidays.
Not: We spent all days at the beach
Fuel prices are rising every week.
Not: Fuel prices are rising all weeks.

All or every: typical errors

· We don’t use every before determiners:

He sold all (of) his books.
Not: … every his books.

· We don’t use every with uncountable nouns:

All (the) information can be saved in the computer memory.
Not: Every information can be saved …

· We don’t use every with plural nouns:

We should organise a trip for all students.
Not: … for every students
· We don’t use every on its own without a noun; we use everyone, everybody or everything instead:

He suggested cancelling the trip and everyone agreed.
Not: … every agreed
Either
from English Grammar Today
Either is a determiner, a pronoun, an adverb or a conjunction.

We can pronounce either /ˈaɪðə(r)/ or /ˈi:ðə(r)/.

Either as a determiner

Either referring to two choices or possibilities

We can use either as a determiner before a noun to talk about two choices or possibilities. The noun that follows either must be a singular countable noun:

Personally, I don’t like either jacket.
Not: … I don’t like either jackets.

Either restaurant will be okay, as they both serve vegetarian food. (It doesn’t matter which of the two restaurants you go to.)

Either of
Either must be followed by of if we use it before the, these, those or possessives (my, your) with a plural noun:

Either of the children can come with us; we don’t mind which.
I don’t want either of my parents to know I’ve lost my job.
Not: I don’t want either my parents …

Either meaning ‘both’

Either as a determiner before a singular countable noun can mean ‘both’:

There were shops on either side of the street.
Either as a pronoun

We can use either as a pronoun:

A: Which sweater do you like, the green one or the blue one?
B: I don’t like either. (I don’t like the green one and I don’t like the blue one.)

A: What colour paper do you want, white or cream?
B: Either. It doesn’t matter.

Either as an adverb

We can use either as an adverb after a negative verb:

It was a really nice hotel, and it wasn’t very expensive either.
She doesn’t like eggs and she doesn’t like fish either.
Either as a conjunction

We can use either with or as a conjunction to connect two clauses:

Either we go by train or we rent a car. Which do you prefer?
Neither, neither … nor and not … either
from English Grammar Today
Neither as a determiner

Neither allows us to make a negative statement about two people or things at the same time. Neither goes before singular countable nouns. We use it to say ‘not either’ in relation to two things. Neither can be pronounced /ˈnaɪðə(r)/ or /ˈni:ðə(r)/.
Neither parent came to meet the teacher. (The mother didn’t come and the father didn’t come.)

Neither dress fitted her. (There were two dresses and not one of them fitted her.)

We use neither of before pronouns and plural countable nouns which have a determiner (my, his, the) before them:

Neither of us went to the concert.
Neither of the birthday cards was suitable.
Spoken English:
In formal styles, we use neither of with a singular verb when it is the subject. However, in informal speaking, people often use plural verbs:

Neither of my best friends was around.
Neither of them were interested in going to university.
In speaking, we can use neither on its own in replies when we are referring to two things that have already been mentioned:

A: Mike, which would you prefer, tea or coffee?
B: Neither thanks. I’ve just had a coffee.

Neither … nor
We can use neither as a conjunction with nor. It connects two or more negative alternatives. This can sound formal in speaking:

Neither Brian nor his wife mentioned anything about moving house. (Brian didn’t mention that they were moving house and his wife didn’t mention that they were moving house.)

Neither Italy nor France got to the quarter finals last year.
The less formal alternative is to use and … not … either:

Italy didn’t get to the quarter finals last year and France didn’t either.
Not with neither and nor

When a clause with neither or nor is used after a negative clause, we invert the subject and the verb after neither and nor:

He hadn’t done any homework, neither had he brought any of his books to class.
We didn’t get to see the castle, nor did we see the cathedral.
Neither do I, Nor can she

We use neither and nor + auxiliary/modal verb + subject to mean ‘also not’:

A:I hate snakes. I can’t even look at a picture of a snake.

B: Neither can I.

Not: I can’t also.

A: Jacqueline doesn’t drive.

B: Nor does Gina.

Not: Gina doesn’t also.

Not … either
We can use not … either to mean ‘also not’, but we do not change the word order of the auxiliary or modal verb and subject:

A: I haven’t ever tasted caviar.

B: I haven’t either. (or Neither have I./Nor have I.)

A: I didn’t see Lesley at the concert.

B: I didn’t either. (or Neither did I./Nor did I.)

Neither: typical errors

· We use neither, not none, when we are talking about two people or things:

Books and television are different. Neither of them should replace the other.
Not: None of them …

· We don’t normally use both (of) + not to make a negative statement about two people or things:

Neither of these shirts is/are dry yet.
Not: Both of these shirts aren’t dry yet.

Unit 6

Grammar so / such ... that; enough / too ... to
So

from English Grammar Today
So + adjective (so difficult), so + adverb (so slowly)

We often use so when we mean ‘to such a great extent’. With this meaning, so is a degree adverb that modifies adjectives and other adverbs:

Using that camera is easy. Why is she making it so difficult?
Why is she so untidy?
I’m sorry I’m walking so slowly. I’ve hurt my ankle.
It doesn’t always work out so well.
We also use so as an intensifier to mean ‘very, very’:

That motorway is so dangerous. Everyone drives too fast.
That’s kind of you. Thanks so much for thinking of us.
We often use so with that:

He’s so lazy that he never helps out with the housework.
It was so dark (that) we could hardly see.
We don’t use so before an adjective + a noun (attributive adjective). We use such:

She emailed us such lovely pictures of her and Enzo.
Not: … so lovely pictures …

We use such not so to modify noun phrases:

She is such a hard-working colleague.
Not: … so a hard-working colleague.

It’s taken them such a long time to send the travel brochures.
Not: … so a long time …

So much and so many
We use so before much, many, little and few:

There were so many people on the beach it was difficult to get into the sea.
There are so few people who know what it is like in our country for other people from different cultures.
You’ve eaten so little and I’ve eaten so much!
We use so much, not so, before comparatives:

I feel so much better after I’ve been for a run in the park.
Not: I feel so better …

My house is so much colder than yours.
So as a substitute form

So substituting for an adjective

In formal contexts we can use so instead of an adjective phrase after a verb:

The bus service was very unreliable when I was young and it remains so even today.(It remains very unreliable …)

She is very anxious. She’s been so since the accident. (She’s been very anxious since the accident.)

More so, less so
When we are comparing, we use more so and less so as substitutes:

The kitchen is very old-fashioned, the living room more so. (The living room is more old-fashioned than the kitchen.)

My old office was very dark; my new office less so. (My new office is less dark than my old office.)

So as substitute

With some verbs, we often use so instead of repeating an object clause, especially in short answers:

A: Will Megan be at the meeting today?
B: I think so. (I think Megan will be at the meeting today.)

The next train is going to be half an hour late. They told me so when I bought my ticket. (They told me (that) the next train is going to be half an hour late.)

So with reporting verbs

Spoken English:
Especially in speaking, we sometimes use so in front position in short responses with reporting verbs such as believe, say, tell, hear, read:

She’s the most popular singer. So everybody says, anyway.
A: Janet got the job.

B: So I heard. (I heard that Janet got the job.)

A: The Council has given planning permission for another shopping centre in the city.

B: So I read in the paper. (I read that the Council has given planning permission for another shopping centre.)

So am I, so do I, Neither do I

We use so with be and with modal and auxiliary verbs to mean ‘in the same way’, ‘as well’ or ‘too’. We use it in order to avoid repeating a verb, especially in short responses with pronoun subjects. When we use so in this way, we invert the verb and subject, and we do not repeat the main verb (so + verb [= v] + subject [= s]):

Geoff is a very good long-distance runner and so [V]is [S]his wife.
A: What are you doing tonight?
B: I’ve got loads of exam marking to do and I’m staying at home.

A: So [V]am [S]I.
They all joined the new gym and after three weeks so [V]did [S]he. (… and after three weeks he joined the gym too.)

Neither do I
We also use not … either, nor or neither when we want to give a negative meaning:

A: I don’t think she’ll be coming to the party.

B: Nor/Neither do I. (or I don’t either.)

So in exclamations

Spoken English:
When we make exclamative responses, we can use so as a substitute before the subject and verb be, or subject and modal or auxiliary verb:

A: We’re out of salt.

B: Oh, so we are!
A: Look Mum, I can climb all the way to the top.

B: So you can!
So as a conjunction

We use so as a subordinating conjunction to introduce clauses of result or decision:

I got here late. It was a long journey, so I’m really tired now.
You are right, of course, so I think we will accept what the bank offers.
It’s much cheaper with that airline, isn’t it, so I’ll get all the tickets for us with them.
So and that-clauses

We use so + that as a conjunction to introduce clauses of reason and explanation:

They both went on a diet so that they could play more football with their friends.
We also use so + adjective or adverb before that-clauses. We do not use very in this structure:

It was so hot that we didn’t leave the air-conditioned room all day.
They drove so fast that they escaped the police car that was chasing them.
Not: They drove very fast that …

So as a discourse marker

Spoken English:
So is a very common discourse marker in speaking. It usually occurs at the beginning of clauses and we use it when we are summarising what has just been said, or when we are changing topic:

[from a lecture on English literature]

So, we’ve covered the nineteenth century and we’re now going to look at all the experiments in the novel in the early twentieth century.
[discussing whether to eat a pudding or keep it till the following morning]

A: I’m not having it cold in the morning.

B: Oh. So what sort of pudding is it?
So, what time does the film start?
So: other uses in speaking

So far means ‘up to now’:

So far we have kept the news within the family.
We use the expression is that so? in responses to express surprise or suspicion:

A: When I came to the flat all the lights were still on!
B: Oh, is that so?
A: Yes!

Spoken English:
We sometimes use so in informal speaking to indicate the size or extent of something. We use it in a similar way to this and we usually use hand gestures to show the size or extent:

[referring to a valuable diamond in a ring]

It’s about so small. (or It’s about this small.)

We also sometimes use so to mean ‘like this’:

Hold the racket in your left hand – so. That’s right.
In speaking, we also use so to intensify words, phrases and clauses. We stress so quite strongly. This usage is very common among some younger speakers. It has a meaning similar to just or just like:

I’m so not interested.
That’s so Jack. He always behaves like that. (That’s just like Jack.)

That is so what I don’t want to hear!
Such
from English Grammar Today
Such as a determiner

We can use such (as a determiner) before a noun phrase to add emphasis:

We visited such fascinating places on our trip through central Asia.
She has such lovely hair.
She lived in such loneliness. (formal)

We use such before the indefinite article, a/an:

We had such an awful meal at that restaurant!
Not: We had a such awful meal …

Such meaning ‘of this or that kind’

In more formal situations, we can use such to mean ‘of this or that kind’. We can use it before a/an or after expressions like the only, the first, the second:

You must not destroy people’s houses. I could never agree to such a plan. (a plan of that kind)

A college is offering a degree in pop music composition. It is the only such course in the country. (the only course of that kind)

Such … that
We can use a that-clause after a noun phrase with such:

He is such a bad-tempered person that no one can work with him for long.
It was such a long and difficult exam that I was completely exhausted at the end.
Such or so?
from English Grammar Today
Such is a determiner; so is an adverb. They often have the same meaning of ‘very’ or ‘to this degree’:

Those are such good chocolates.
Those chocolates are so good.
We use such + noun phrase and so + adjective or adverb phrase:

She is such a great cook.
Not: She is so great cook.

That was so unpleasant. (so + adjective)

Not: That was such unpleasant.

Why do you drive so fast? (so + adverb)

Not: Why do you drive such fast?
Compare
	so + adjective
	such + noun phrase

	You’re so kind.
	He’s such a kind person

	It was so hot we couldn’t work.
	November was such a cold month.


So but not such can also be used in front of much, many, little, few to add emphasis:

So much food was wasted every day.
Not: Such much food was wasted …

In those days there were so few doctors in our area.
Not: … there were such few doctors …

Typical errors

· We use such, not so, before a noun, even if there is an adjective before the noun:

They’re such snobs! They won’t speak to anyone else in the village.
Not: They’re so snobs …

Those are such cool shoes. Where did you get them?
Not: Those are so cool shoes.

· We use such, not so, before a noun phrase with the indefinite article a/an:

This is such a wonderful kitchen!
Not: This is a so wonderful kitchen!
· We use so, not such, before adjectives:

Thank you. You’re so kind.
Not: You’re such kind.

· We use so, not such, before adverbs:

She always dresses so elegantly.
Not: She always dresses such elegantly.

Enough
from English Grammar Today
Enough is a determiner, a pronoun or an adverb. We use enough to mean ‘as much as we need or want’.

Enough as a determiner

We can use enough before a noun as a determiner:

A: Do you have enough money to pay for your train fare and taxis?
B: Yes, thanks. I’m fine.

There was enough food for about ten people.
We use enough of before other determiners (the, my) and pronouns (us, them):

You haven’t eaten enough of your dinner, Jason.
Not: You haven’t eaten enough your dinner, Jason.

There weren’t enough of them.
Not: There weren’t enough them.

Enough as a pronoun

We can use enough as a pronoun:

[at the end of a meal]

A: Have you had enough?
B: Yes, thanks. That was delicious.

I need to go and get some more chairs. There aren’t enough here.
Enough as an adverb

We use enough as an adverb of degree:

A: Are you ready for your exam?
B: Yes, I think I’ve studied enough. That’s all I can do.

Warning:
We use enough as an adverb directly after an adjective or directly after another adverb:

Is this box big enough for all those books?
Not: Is this box enough big …

Strangely enough, no one seemed to notice that Boris was in his pyjamas.(It is/was strange that no one …)

Too
from English Grammar Today
Too is an adverb.

Too meaning ‘more than enough’

We use too meaning ‘more than enough’ in different positions.

Too before adjectives and adverbs

We use too immediately before adjectives and adverbs:

This coffee is too sweet.
Not: This coffee is too much sweet.

I can’t sleep. It’s too hot.
It happened too quickly, so I just didn’t see it.
Not: It happened too much quickly.

The car was travelling too fast and went out of control.
Too before adjective/adverb + to-infinitive

The water was too cold to swim in.
Two hours is too long to wait.
Too much, too many, too few and too little
When we want to talk about quantities which are more or less than enough, we use too much, too many, too few and too little before a noun:

There’s too much salt in this soup. (too much + uncountable noun)

There were too many dogs on the beach. (too many + countable noun)

I don’t like this book because there are too few pictures in it. (too few + countable noun; more formal than I don’t like this book because there aren’t enough pictures in it.)

The trip was cancelled because there was too little interest in it. (too little + uncountable noun)

Much too and far too
We can use much and far with too for emphasis. Far too is stronger than much too:

Too and very
We use very to add emphasis to an adjective or an adverb, but it does not mean the same as too.

Compare
	She is very careful.
	Very makes careful stronger.

	She is too careful.
	Too careful means ‘more careful than is necessary’.


Very much and too much
We often use very much to emphasise verbs such as like, dislike, hope, doubt. We do not use too much in this way with these verbs:

I like it very much because I got it from my husband.
Not: I like it too much …

I doubt very much that Ronan will be able to come to the party.
Not: I doubt too much that …

Too bad

Spoken English:
In speaking, we can use too bad or that’s too bad as a response token to express that we are sorry to hear about something. This is particularly common in American English:

A: The weather forecast says it’s going to rain again on Wednesday.

B: Too bad. We were planning to go for a picnic.

A: How’s your mother?
B: She’s okay but she’s feeling lonely because she lives on her own now.

A: That’s too bad. Does she have many friends living nearby?
Too meaning ‘also’

We can use too to mean ‘also’. It is more common than also in informal situations. We normally use it at the end of the clause:

[in a restaurant, A is the waiter]

A: Have you decided?
B: I think I’ll have the soup.

C: I’ll have that too.

Catherine decided to join us for dinner, and her husband came along too. (or, more formal, … and her husband also came along.)

In short answers in informal situations, we normally say me too, not I too:

A: I love that colour.

B: Me too.

In more formal situations, we can use too immediately after the subject:

You too could have a week in the sun. Visit www.holidaysforyou.com.
Typical error

· We don’t use too to emphasise adjectives and adverbs. We use very:

She was very beautiful. (very emphasises beautiful)

Not: She was too beautiful.
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Passive

from English Grammar Today
Passive: active and passive

We use the terms active voice and passive voice to talk about ways of organising the content of a clause:

Cambridge University Press published this book. (active)

This book was published by Cambridge University Press. (passive)

The active voice is the typical word order. We put the subject (the topic or the theme) first. The subject is the ‘doer’ or agent of the verb:

Edward Barnes designed these houses in the 1880s. (active)

In the passive, the person or thing that the action was done to becomes the topic or theme. We can leave out the ‘doer’ or agent, or we can place the ‘doer’ in a prepositional phrase (by + ‘doer’):
These houses were designed in the 1880s. (passive without agent)

These houses were designed in the 1880s by Edward Barnes. (passive + by + agent)

We use the passive when we want to change the focus of a clause, or if the doer of the verb is not important or not known or if we do not want to say who the doer is.

Passive: forms

Be + -ed
The most common passive structure is be + -ed form:

Five million people watch the show every week. (active present simple of watch)

The show is watched by five million people every week. (passive present simple of be + -ed form of watch)

The table gives examples of the most common forms in the passive.

	tense
	be form
	
	examples

	present simple
	am
are
is
	+ -ed form
	Am I invited too?
One or two new types of insect are found in Britain each year.
It’s not made in China.

	present continuous
	am
are
is
	being
	
	Am I being recorded?
We’re already being served, thanks.
That computer isn’t being used any more.

	past simple
	was
were
	
	The story was reported in yesterday’s paper.
We didn’t know what was in the boxes. They weren’t labelled.

	past continuous
	was
were
	being
	
	Was he being examined?
They were being watched carefully.

	present perfect simple
	have
has
	been
	
	Haven’t they been asked to the wedding?
He’s been hurt.

	past perfect simple
	had
	been
	
	An important discovery had been made.
Had he been injured in the war?

	modal simple
	can
will
might
	be
	
	Reservations can be accepted up to 24 hours before arrival.
I don’t think I’ll ever be paid.
Might we not be allowed to go in?

	modal continuous
	could
may
must
	be being
	
	She couldn’t still be beinginterviewed.
The photocopier may be being repaired.
It must be being done now.

	modal perfect simple
	could
must
	Have been
	
	Do you think we could have been heard?
The document must have been written when they sold the house.


Tenses and the passive

We use passive forms of tenses in the same way as we use their active equivalents. For example, we use the present simple in the passive to talk about general or permanent states, or general facts we think are true at the present time:

Mr Lloyd and Mrs James teach Geography. (present simple active)

Geography is taught by Mr Lloyd and Mrs James. (present simple passive)

We don’t often use perfect continuous forms (have/has been being + -ed form) in a passive structure. We usually find a way to reword sentences like this.

Compare
	The house has been being renovated for almost a year.
	not common, we usually avoid this form

	They have been renovating the house for almost a year.
	preferred form


See also:

· They
Verbs and the passive

We can form passive structures with verbs that are followed by an object (transitive verbs) and some clauses where the verb is followed by a preposition:

My favourite mug was broken. (Someone broke my favourite mug.)

Their car was broken into and the radio was taken. (Someone broke into their car and took their radio.)

The holiday hasn’t been paid for yet. (No one has paid for the holiday yet.)

We can’t make passive forms from verbs which do not have objects (intransitive verbs):

The parcel arrived in the post this morning.
Not: The parcel was arrived …

We don’t usually use the passive with some verbs that describe a state or situation (state verbs):

They were having lunch.
Not: Lunch was being had.

Some verbs are more common in the passive than the active voice. These include be born, be populated, be stranded, be taken aback:

Where were you born?
Thousands of passengers have been stranded at airports all over Europe after heavy snowfalls.
Verbs with two objects

When verbs have two objects, either object can be the theme or subject of the passive structure, depending on what we want to focus on:

Her mother gave each child a present. (active)

A present was given to each child (by her mother). (passive)

Each child was given a present (by her mother). (passive)

Linking verbs

We don’t form passive structures with verbs like be, become, seem where the complement of the verb refers back to the subject (linking verbs):

After six years of training she has finally become a doctor.
Passives with an agent

We use the preposition by to introduce the doer or the agent of the action. We use this structure when the agent is important:

Mr Ward has been arrested by the FBI.
The community was destroyed by a flood in 1862.
When the subject of the passive clause is not the real agent of the verb, we use other prepositions in passive structures:

I’d been decorating the bedroom and I was covered in paint. (Paint isn’t the real agent; I am the agent; I was painting.)

When the doer or agent of the action is an instrument, we use with:

The door was smashed open with a hammer.
Passives without an agent

Passive structures without an agent are very common. We use these structures when an agent is not important, or is unknown or obvious:

All applications must be received before 31 July.
The data was analysed and the results have just been published.
I walked to work. The car’s being repaired.
It and there
We often use an impersonal expression with it or there when the agent is not important:

It was decided to charge £10 per ticket.
It has been estimated that in Tanzania one elephant in three is an orphan.
There were no comments given about the proposal and no decisions made. (No comments were given … no decisions were made.)

See also:

Passive: uses

Using the passive allows the speaker or writer to make choices about what is important.

We use the passive for different reasons. We sometimes use it to give focus to something. We can also use it because we don’t know the identity of the ‘doer’ or because it’s not important to know who or what did the action. In addition, we use it to be impersonal and create distance.

We often use passives without agents in academic and technical contexts when the process or actions are more significant than who or what did them:

A sample was taken and injected into a tube.
In this study, children’s eye movements were recorded while they listened to a series of messages.
We often use passive forms of reporting verbs (believe, think, say, consider, find) to create distance from personal statements and focus more on impersonal processes:

Police are looking for a man in his 30s. He is believed to be dangerous.
In some cultures blowing your nose in public is considered impolite.
When we want to give emphasis to something new, we can begin with something which is already known and put the newsworthy or important item at the end, where it can be stressed and given focus:

A: That’s a lovely chair.

B: Yes, it’s very old. It was given to me by my grandmother.

I was made to feel very welcome by everyone.
Passive: other forms

Other structures that have passive characteristics are the get-passive and get/have something done:

The windows got broken. (Someone broke the windows.)

He’s getting his hair coloured. (Someone is colouring his hair.)

We had our wooden floors painted. (Someone painted our wooden floors.)

We use these structures more commonly in speaking. They are similar to the passive because the agent of the action is not the subject.

See also:

· Get passive
· Have something done
Passive: typical errors

· We don’t form passive structures with intransitive verbs:

She died.
Not: She was died.

· We don’t form passive structures with verbs that describe states:

Those shoes don’t suit the dress.
Not: The dress isn’t suited by those shoes.

· We use the past form of be + born to talk about someone’s birth:

She was born at home.
Not: She is born at home.

Unit 8
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Grammar Causative: have and get
Have something done
from English Grammar Today
What someone does for us

We use have + object + -ed form when we talk about someone doing something for us which we ask or instruct them to do. It emphasises the process/action rather than who performs it:

We’re having the house painted next week. (We are not going to paint the house ourselves. Someone else will paint it. The emphasis is on the fact that the house is being painted rather than who is doing it.)

Warning:
This pattern is not the same as the present perfect or past perfect.

Compare
	I had my hair cut.
	Someone cut my hair.

	I’ve cut my hair.
I’d cut my hair.
	I cut my own hair.


We can also use have + object + -ed form when something bad happens, especially when someone is affected by an action which they did not cause:

They’ve had their car stolen. (‘They’ are affected by the action of the car being stolen but they did not cause this to happen.)

Hundreds of people had their homes destroyed by the hurricane. (Hundreds of people were affected by the hurricane, which they did not cause.)

Asking or instructing

We use the pattern have + object + infinitive without to when we talk about instructing someone (underlined) to do something. We use it to emphasise who performed the action:

I’ll have Harry book you a taxi. (I will instruct Harry to book a taxi for you. Emphasis is on who will do the action more than on the action.)

He had Kay make us all some tea.
Talking about an experience

We use have + object + -ing form or infinitive without to to talk about an event or experience. We use the -ing form for an event in progress and the infinitive without to for a completed event:

We had a man singing to us as we sat in the restaurant having our meal.
We had a strange woman come to the door selling pictures.
We can also use the -ing form to describe an ongoing action that someone or something is causing:

Her story had us laughing so much. (Her story was making us laugh.)

I just had them doing stretch routines, and after, they got really good at it.
Get passive

from English Grammar Today
We form the standard passive with be + -ed form. We form the get passive with get + -edform:

The trees in the garden were damaged in the wind. (standard passive)

The trees in the garden got damaged in the wind. (get passive)

We use the get passive especially in informal speaking. When we use the get passive, we also place a little more emphasis on the nature of the action itself or on the person involved in the action:

There were blizzards over night and the whole town got snowed in. (‘Get snowed in’ here means to be unable to leave the town because of heavy falls of snow.)

I’ve got good news for you. Jim finally got promoted.
They had only known each other for six months when they got married in Las Vegas.
The get passive is commonly used in speaking of events that are negative or not desired:

They’ve worked there for three years but they still got sacked (lost their jobs).

He feels his paintings are always getting criticised.
Our car got stolen last night.
We sometimes use a reflexive pronoun with the get passive. This suggests the subject was at least partly responsible for the event or made it happen:

I got myself locked out the other day. I stupidly left my keys in the bedroom. (or I got locked out …)

